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President’s Perspective
The College continues to focus on developing
relationships with Government. This has
developed to a high level with the Commonwealth.
This year program/project funding from the
source amounts to $12,517,006. Lately we have
also focussed on closer links with State and
Territory Governments and this has proven
productive.

The College Board of Directors and Committees
continue to devote much effort to dealing with
medico-political issues with governments in
Australia at both Commonwealth and State level.
The current MBS Review is of great concern to all
in the profession, and the Board is very focussed
on ensuring a good outcome for pathology
practice and for patients. It is unclear at the
present time to what extent the pathology
schedule will be reviewed and changed. Indeed
it may be an opportunity for changes that
better reflect contemporary pathology practice.
However it is worrying that the review is not
directly linked to the Medical Services Advisory
Committee (opportunity to introduce new items
to the schedule) and the current MSAC processes
continue to have difficulties and delays. Indeed
the College has made the strategic decision to
appoint a Project Officer internally to prepare
and review MSAC applications in the hope that
the challenges around new test funding can be
facilitated.
On the positive side, the College continues to
lead at an international level in structured
reporting of cancer and at a national level in
pathology information units and terminology
standards. The College is also involved in the
“Choosing Wisely” campaign with NPS. This
initiative is based on best practice in pathology
requesting.
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College subscription rates remain very
competitive and I believe represent exceptional
value for what is provided. College finances are
sound, as evidenced in the financial section of
this report. From 1 July, 2015 the QAP Company
is a wholly owned subsidiary of the College. While
it will continue to operate with autonomy, the
College from the next financial year will produce
a consolidated financial statement with QAP as
well as separate reports for each organisations’
annual report. It is to the credit of the QAP
Directors and staff that the company continues
to grow in new markets and with new programs.
The College is developing strategies to deal with
the Omics revolution. It certainly is an exciting
time in Pathology. Microbiology and Genetics
have developed strategic plans to deal with this
disruptive technology and other disciplines are
addressing the impact. All the specialities will
be developing strategic plans over the next year
to deal with these new technologies and the
College is producing resources to assist current
Fellows to update their knowledge in these areas.
The approach of the profession to revalidation is
an important item for the Board of Directors with
both the Australian Medical Board and the New
Zealand Medical Council exploring how it should
be introduced in their respective countries. There
is an opportunity for colleges to shape how they
would like this introduced rather than have a
system imposed. Current thinking from the
College is for a portfolio approach based on
CPDP activities, EQA performance, appraisals
and Internal Quality Assurance activities using
workplace roles. We received Commonwealth

President’s Perspective

funding to develop this concept in
Anatomical Pathology and workshops will
be scheduled soon to inform Fellows. Other
specialities will be tasked through the relevant
advisory committees to develop a suitable
relevant portfolio. I anticipate that this approach
which is novel in the pathology context will
satisfy the relevant authorities and equally
importantly, the community.

In closing, I wish to thank my Board colleagues,
Council and all members of College Committees
for their expertise and tireless voluntary
involvement, and the CEO and her Management
Team for their invaluable contributions.
I commend this Annual Report to you.
A/Prof Peter Stewart
President

The College Council, with its representative
structure, will meet again in November to assist
with further developing the College’s strategic
plan. This remains a living document and is vital
to continuing innovation in the College.
Our faculties continue to thrive. The Faculty of
Science has launched the pathway to Fellowship
by examination and curricula and trainee
handbooks have been developed in the sub
specialities. There continues to be considerable
interest in the Faculty of Clinical Forensic
Medicine which is now very active. The Faculty of
Oral and Maxillofacial Pathology has also been
working with the Australian Dental Board to
attain specialist recognition for Forensic
Odontology.

I have enjoyed meeting with many Fellows and
Trainees over the last year at events such as
Pathology Update, the New Zealand Annual
Scientific Meeting, and visits to the States and
Territories and Hong Kong, Singapore and
Malaysia.
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Fellows and Faculty Fellows should consider
whether they can help the RCPA Foundation
which the College has set up to ensure awards of
funds for research and education of Fellows and
Trainees. It goes without saying that unless we
as a profession invest in our future, then we
have none! Previous recipients are already
contributing to enhanced pathology practice and
innovation.
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REports
Board of Directors

State of Affairs

Alphabetical list of Directors of the College in
office from 1 July 2014 to 30 June 2015.

No significant changes in the state of affairs of
the College occurred during the financial year.

Dr Lawrence Bott
A/Prof Merrole Cole-Sinclair
Dr Michael Dray
Dr Michael Harrison
Dr Jan Kencian
Dr Anthony Landgren
Dr Sophia Otto
A/Prof Peter Stewart
Prof Roger Wilson

Short and Long Term Objectives
The College aims to be a self supporting
organisation promoting the study of science and
the practice of pathology to ensure that sufficient
expert pathology services are available to sustain
the practice of medicine and to promote health
care in the Australasian region.

Principal Activities

Future Developments

The principal activities of the College during
the course of the financial year were the
promotion of the study of the sciences and
practice of pathology in relation to medicine
and the consideration of all questions affecting
the interests of College Fellows, as well as the
encouragement of research in pathology and
ancillary sciences. No significant change in the
nature of these activities occurred during the year.

In 2016 the College will be assessed by the
Australian Medical Council (AMC) for
re-accreditation. The assessment will take
place in the latter half of 2016 and is a major
undertaking in terms of making Fellows and
Trainees available to the AMC team and
preparing all the documentation that is required.

Operating Results
Details of the operating result for the College as
at 30 June 2015:
General funds
RCPA Foundation
Education or Research Funds

$71,896
$293,765
$48,204
$413,865

Dividends
The College is a ‘Not for Profit’ organisation and
as such does not pay dividends.
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Performance Measurement
The College monitors membership and trainee
numbers against workforce projections needed
to support ongoing demand for pathology
services. The College liaises with governments
and seeks to implement appropriate strategies
to ensure that the workforce of pathologists and
scientists is sufficient to meet the projected
demand for services. Informal benchmarking
of the subscriptions paid by members against
subscriptions levied by other specialist
medical colleges of a similar size is undertaken.
This process has revealed that the College fees
are at the lower end of the spectrum.

Reports

Environmental Issues
The operations of the College are not subject to
significant environmental regulation under the
law of the Commonwealth or State.

Member Contribution
Fellows of the College, Honorary Fellows of the
College and Fellows of College Faculties would
contribute up to $20 each in the event of
winding up.

Incorporation
The College is incorporated and domiciled in
NSW, Australia.
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review of operations
Board of Directors Meetings
The Board of Directors conducted a total of 12
meetings during the year via teleconference
and face to face dealing with the many issues
presented for decision as well as the regular
agenda items which include approval of new
and updated documents for the College
Policy Manual, and approval of candidates for
Fellowship and other categories of membership.
The Board receives monthly reports from each
Board member including financial statements
and a report from the CEO.
Some of the matters covered have included
the completion of the new education centre,
discussions on revalidation, development of new
Position Statements, Collection Centre rent issues,
strategic planning days for advisory committees,
involvement with the Know Pathology Know
Healthcare campaign, International Pathology
Day, and appointments to College committees.

Major Committees
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The consolidation of four major committees into
two is proving successful now that each area is
more clearly defined.
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The Board of Education and
Assessment (BEA)
The BEA has had a very busy year and
administratively the department has grown to
better assist the Board in its work as there are
now over 600 Trainees across the College and
Faculties. Work continues on curriculum
development and refinement, in particular for
the Faculty of Science as Trainees are coming
on board in that area. Revalidation is also a major
issue.

Board of Professional Practice
and Quality (BPPQ)
The BPPQ has predominantly dealt with
issues related to Federal Government such as
the Pathology Funding Agreement, Approved
Collection Centre arrangements, Federal Health
Budgets and the Medicare Benefits Schedule.
BPPQ continues to work with the Board on other
matters such as pathology workforce issues and
professional practice issues. The Committee has
an on-going schedule of policy revision and
frequently makes recommendations for position
statements and advice to external stakeholders.

Discipline Advisory
Committees (ACs)
The flow of documents from external
organisations and requests for comment are
constantly increasing and the discipline
committees review and comment back to the
College to allow comprehensive replies to be
formulated. The final correspondence is relayed
back to the committees so that they are aware of
the College response. Each discipline committee
has scheduled a strategic planning day and the
Board of Directors has recommended that these
sessions should take place every two years to
assist improved planning.

Committees
There are a number of other committees that
work on specific areas, eg Informatics, Cancer
Services, Lay Committee. Significant progress has
been made over the year in all these committees
with regular meetings being held.

Review of Operations

State and Regional Committees

Faculty of Clinical Forensic Medicine:

State and Regional Chairs and Committees have
a major role in the organisation and running of
examinations in their area which is of immense
value to the College. All State and Regional Chairs
are members of Council which meets at least
annually to consider and direct future strategic
planning for the College. Under the guidance
of each State/Regional Councillor an Annual
General Meeting is held. Regular meetings take
place in most jurisdictions and some provide
newsletters to members. State and Regional
Chairs are a valuable resource for Fellows
and Trainees alike, opening up lines of
communication on local and general issues.

The first Faculty Committee completed the
review of applications under the Chairmanship
of Dr Clive Cooke. The first members have been
admitted and a further round of applications
has been opened, reviewed and will be sent to
the Board of Directors for final approval. The
category of Associate member has also been
established.

Faculties
Faculty of Oral and Maxillofacial Pathology:
The College continues to engage the Dental
Boards and Dental Council of Australia and New
Zealand in discussions on professional practice
and training issues. The Faculty, although small,
has been boosted by the inclusion of Forensic
Odontologists who are represented on the
Faculty committee.

Trainees are now being accepted for Faculty
training, which is a major achievement and
represents many hours of hard work on
curriculum development by the Chief Examiner
and Principal Examiners across the disciplines
on offer.
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Faculty of Science:
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RCPA EVENTS
RCPA Events 1 July 2014 to 30 June 2015
New Zealand Society of Pathologists Annual Scientific Meeting - Histo in Hamilton
17-19 October 2014, Hamilton, New Zealand
With an exciting and varied program for anatomical and chemical pathologists, anatomical speakers
presented on a wide range of topics such as breast pathology (Prof Sandra O’Toole), gynaepathology
(Dr Lyndal Anderson), endocrine pathology (A/Prof Anthony Gill) and forensic pathology (Prof Jo
Duflou). Local experts spoke on cervical pathology (Diane Kenwright), cytopathology (Dr Peter
Bethwaite and Dr Irene Low), and melanopathology with Dr Patrick Emmanuel. Clinical colleague,
Dr Lois Eva spoke on colposcopy, and dermatoscopy was with A/Prof Amanda Oakley. Health and
Disability Commissioner Mr Anthony Hill spoke, as did an expert in human factors in airline safety,
Mr Wayne Martin. Chemical pathologists benefitted from a 1 day chemical pathology stream on
Friday 17 October, along with the IGENZ proffered papers and poster display. In all over 110
anatomical pathologists and 25 chemical pathologists attended the meeting.

Anatomical Pathology and Laboratory Skills Workshop (APLS3)
23-26 October 2014, Ballarat, Victoria
A workshop for second year anatomical pathology trainees was held to help develop laboratory skills
and an approach to microscopic diagnosis as part of preparation for the Part 1 examinations and
DOPS. The sessions also targeted more senior registrars attempting the Part 1 examination in 2015.
The workshop provided insights into this important field of medicine and valuable experience and
training. Over 35 trainees attended the third annual APLS workshop which was organised by Scientific
Convenor, Dr Simon Nazaretian.

Short Course in Post-Mortem Forensic Toxicology
31 October-2 November 2014, Hobart, Tasmania
This short course was specifically designed to address the needs of forensic trainees, but was also of
relevance and use to the more experienced consultants who attended. Teaching was delivered via
a mix of lectures, examples and workshops; discussion was encouraged to explore the range of
possibilities and opinions. Rather than focus on absolute levels of drugs and post-mortem effects,
the emphasis was on approach and interpretation giving regard to the context of the case. Everyone
found it educational, useful and enjoyable. The course would not have been possible without the help
of Sue Gavan, Janine Lewis and support of the College.
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RCPA Events

Surgical Pathology Course
1-2 November 2014, Nedlands, Western Australia
The RCPA with support from PathWest Laboratory Medicine WA, conducted a two-day weekend
Surgical Pathology Course focusing on Breast Pathology and Dermatopathology. Invited speakers
included: Prof. Stuart Schnitt (Director of AP at Beth Israel Deaconess Medical Center, Co-leader of
the Dana Farber Harvard Cancer Center Breast Program and Professor of Pathology, Harvard Medical
School), Prof Sunil Lakhani, (Head of Molecular and Cellular Pathology, School of Medicine, University
of Queensland, State Director of AP, Pathology Queensland and Head of Queensland Centre for Clinical
Research, Royal Brisbane and Women’s Hospital) and Prof Richard Scolyer (a consultant Pathologist
and Co-Director of Research, Melanoma Institute Australia, Senior Staff Specialist, Tissue Pathology
and Diagnostic Oncology, Royal Prince Alfred Hospital, Sydney and Clinical Professor, The University
of Sydney). Over 100 pathologists, trainees, clinicians and scientists attended the meeting, which was
held at the QEII Medical Centre, Nedlands, WA.

RCPA Pathology Informatics Seminar
12-13 November 2014, RCPA Alan Ng Education Centre, Surry Hills, Sydney
The seminar provided a unique opportunity to either unravel the mystery behind the computer screen
or compliment education on pathology informatics and provided a critical overview of key elements
of informatics in regard to the pathology profession, covering 23 learning areas across 4 streams:
information fundamentals, information systems, workflow and process, and governance and
management. This seminar was open to pathologists, trainee pathologists, medical and computer
scientists and technologists and indeed for any knowledge workers in pathology or using pathology
reports. It was the first short course to be held in the new RCPA venue, The Professor Alan BP Ng
Education Centre in Surry Hills.

Over 100 registrants attended the first combined RCPA Forensic Pathology and Clinical Forensic
Medicine meeting as a ‘workshop’ event followed by the 22nd International Australian and New
Zealand Forensic Science (ANZFSS) Symposium. The Forensic Interim and FAMSACA meetings were
held in two concurrent streams enabling delegate interaction in the breaks and attendance at sessions
from both strands culminating in a combined session on the Sunday afternoon on Working Together:
the establishment of the Faculty of Clinical Forensic Medicine within the RCPA. The program included
international speaker Dr Rob Ainsworth from Edinburgh, and covered a range of topics including
forensic aspects of animal attacks, the emergence of new illicit psychotropic drugs (NBOMe),
explosives and bomb scene investigation. The clinical forensic program was organised by FAMSACA
(Forensic and Medical Sexual Assault Clinicians of Australia) and AAFP (Australasian Association of
Forensic Practitioners) with the theme of Evidence Based Practice including a key note address from
international guest Dr Catherine White OBE.
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Forensic Interim Meeting
30-31 August 2014, Adelaide

9

RCPA Events

Management in Pathology
21-22 November 2014, RCPA Alan Ng Education Centre, Surry Hills, Sydney
Management in Pathology was the second RCPA educational event held in the new Alan Ng
Education Centre in Surry Hills boasting a successful and inspiring weekend. Delving into various
aspects of managing a laboratory, management roles and conducting successful business practices,
this course was aimed at pathologists, trainees and scientists who are taking on, or are interested in, a
management role and received extremely positive feedback. We thank A/Prof Peter Stewart, Dr Lawrie
Bott, Dr Wendy Pryor, Prof Tony Landgren, Dr Peter Walker, Mr Kevin Forde, Ms Donna Meredith,
Dr Raymond Chan, Dr Damien Bruno and Prof Jeffrey Braithwaite who presented during the course,
for their advice and expertise.

Spring into Subi
27–29 November 2014, St John of God Pathology, Western Australia
The “Spring Into Subi” course on soft tissue and gastrointestinal pathology was held at St John of God
Pathology in Subiaco (Perth, WA) on 27-29 November. Attended by over 40 Fellows and trainees from
across Australia, the course was organised by A/Prof Chris Hemmings (SJOG Pathology WA and School
of Surgery, UWA), with assistance from the Events Team at the RCPA and the SJOG Cancer Research
Group. Local speakers featured as well as international guest Prof Jason Hornick (Brigham & Women’s
Hospital and Harvard Medical School, Boston USA). Feedback from attendees was overwhelmingly
positive, with all survey respondents rating the course overall as “very good” or “excellent”, and all
respondents stating that they would be “likely” or “very likely” to recommend the course to others.
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Review & Recent Advances in Pathology and the Too Hard Slide Seminar
(Two sessions from 11 February–14 October 2015) Royal Prince Alfred Hospital
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Review & Recent Advances in Pathology 2015 in conjunction with the Too Hard Slide Seminars is the
Annual educational program for Anatomical Pathology Fellows and Trainees. The program ran as two
sessions in 2015 and includes the Too Hard Slide Seminars and a series of lectures and workshops with
several dedicated cytology and small biopsies in the second session. Registrars were asked to bring
along slides from their own cases to share and discuss. The scope of the series has been designed
to appeal to both trainees and experienced Fellows. Over 80 delegates have registered for this
educational program.

RCPA Events

Pathology Update 2015: Diagnosis by the Yarra
27 February–2 March 2015
A total of 1,291 delegates attended Pathology Update 2015 at the Melbourne Convention Centre from
Friday 27 February to Sunday 2 March. 1137 delegates attended from around Australia with 90 from
New Zealand, 16 from Singapore, 12 from Malaysia and a variety from 14 other countries around the
world. The Scientific Program Committees pulled together another amazing program with scientific
streams packed with engaging sessions running throughout the three days. Sessions were delivered
by 7 international speakers and over 130 speakers from around Australia. A total of 169 scientific
posters were submitted for the Roche Scientific Poster Display.
Sixty-one medical students attended the Medical Students’ Breakfast on the first day. Sessions were
recommended to them and many made further contact regarding training and generally expressed
positive reactions to Pathology Update.
The Trainee Oral Presentations were presented to a full audience and Dr Kyra Chua (microbiology) took
out the coveted QAP Oral Presentation Prize. Dr Siddhartha Deb (anatomical pathology) was awarded
the DS Nelson Award, the BEA Trainee Poster Prize went to Dr Sarah Sasson (immunopathology) and
Dr Colleen D’Arcy (anatomical pathology) was awarded the QAP Poster Award prize.
Social events once again were popular, in particular Friday’s Mexican inspired cocktail night which
included margaritas and paella cooking stations. The evening was considered a roaring success.

Adelaide Small Biopsy
14-15 March 2015

The course was a great success and of immense benefit to both Trainees and Fellows providing an
up to date approach to small biopsy cases, including evolving classifications of diseases. Over 75
delegates benefited from the diverse range of topics covered by expert pathologists in their own
fields. Thanks go to Georgina England and all the speakers for their hard work and interesting
presentations.

Basic Pathological Sciences Seminar
27 March 2015
The BPS Seminar was designed to assist with examination preparation. The Chief Examiner explained
the scope and format of the Basic Pathological Sciences examination and gave an overview of the
topic areas to be covered. This was followed by a series of presentations from pathologists on topics
relevant to the examination. Registering for this seminar provided candidates for the BPS examination
access to an online mock examination and an opportunity to ask questions and clarify issues arising
from the mock examination.
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The Adelaide Small Biopsy Course over a weekend was held at the Royal Adelaide Hospital, designed
for anatomical pathology Trainees and Fellows. A range of expert pathologists discussed their areas
of interest and covered day to day practical diagnostic dilemmas, everyday reporting and exam
preparation (including Part 1, Part 2 and Small Biopsy exams).
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RCPA Events

RCPA 21st Immunopathology Training Course
29 April–1 May 2015
Held at the RCPA Prof Alan BP Ng Education Centre 31 trainees spent three days taking in a wide
range of topics in their chosen specialty, including talks on basic biology, diagnostic immunopathology,
autoimmunity and flow cytometry. Presentations were delivered by expert research scientists
alongside established and experienced immunopathologists. The program aimed at trainees in
immunopathology, and was also of interest to established pathologists, trainees in other disciplines
and laboratory scientists. There was an optional practical trial examination for candidates sitting
the part I or part II examinations. Over 30 immunopathologists and trainees attended the course,
organised by Scientific Convenor A/Prof David Fulcher. The contributions by Mavis Billinge,
David Fulcher and co-convenors Melanie Wong and Ming-Wei Lin were greatly appreciated
and instrumental in the success of this teaching course.

Viruses In May 2015
30 April–2 May 2015
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The Viruses in May course run by co-convenors Prof William Rawlinson AM and A/Prof Monica
Lahra was held at the Carrington Hotel, Katoomba NSW and included introductory virology, an
introduction by the SEALS Executive Director (A/Professor Rob Lindeman) on the importance of
value adding from pathology, and talks relating to important recent findings in viral oncogenesis
and virology in emerging conditions. Day two had topics related to emerging and important viruses,
where national and international experts discussed vaccine preventable illnesses, the recent Ebola
outbreak, other emerging viruses and methods of diagnosis. The final day highlighted viruses in
extreme conditions (rarely discussed at meetings), which was very well received. Importantly the
meeting concluded with a discussion about the importance of viral infections in indigenous
Australians, presented by a current pathology trainee (Dr Emma Goeman). The 85 attendees were
from all around Australia, plus a small number from New Zealand and the Pacific Islands.
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RCPA Events

Short Course in Medical Genetics and Genetic Pathology
19-22 June 2015
The biennial Short Course in Medical Genetics and Genetic Pathology was held at the Q-Station
with over 100 delegates attending the 3 day course. The RCPA, RCPA Faculty of Science and HGSA
developed a program to respond to the ongoing dramatic technology shifts, particularly in the arenas
of massively parallel sequencing, array analysis and genome informatics. Encouraged by feedback
from the successful 2013 Short Course, the scientific organising committee expanded. The committee
comprised Kevin Carpenter, Karen Kassan, Graham Taylor, Rossa Chiu, Damien Bruno and David Ravine.
The 2015 program was targeted towards the needs of advanced trainee scientists and genetic
pathology registrars preparing for Fellowship examinations, as well as senior practitioners delivering
genetic diagnostic laboratory services.

Career Days
The Australian Medical Students Association (AMSA) and a number of universities run a variety of
careers days in different states. Manned by Fellows, Trainees and College staff, the College has a booth
at these careers days and hands out promotional material, giveaways and training advice to medical
students interested in Pathology training. These careers days provide an excellent opportunity to
promote the College and explain the role of the profession in healthcare to new students and
prospective Trainees.
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rcpa events pictorial

RCPA President presenting Distinguished Fellow
Award to Professor Stephen Cordner

Pathology Day Guest speaker Anna Bligh with
RCPA President, A/Prof Peter Stewart

Otago University opened its doors to schools on Pathology Day
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RCPA Events Pictorial
Trainee AC Chair Dr Nick Shaw
on hand at a careers day
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Enjoying the Pathology Update Cocktail event

The Examiners for the AP Part 1 examinations 2014
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SPECIAL EVENT

The Professor Alan
BP Ng Education Centre
The official opening of the Professor Alan BP Ng Education Centre took place on Thursday 20
November 2014 and the College was delighted to have a number of his family members present,
including his wife Enid, daughters Amanda and Kathryn, son-in-law Paul and two grandsons.
The College is indebted to the family for making possible a first class educational facility; one that
honours Alan and ensures his name will live on. Sadly, Alan passed away shortly before he was due
to meet with the College Council. He had already approached the then College Council with the
intention of providing funds for educational purposes. His slide collection, donated when he retired,
is housed in the Durham Hall library.
Malaysian born, Prof Alan Beh Puan Ng left home in Kuala Lumpur in 1951 to complete his high school
years and pursue medicine at the University of Melbourne graduating in 1958. An RMO at St Vincent’s
Hospital, he met and married student nurse, Enid, his wife of 50 years. He went to the USA and held
several appointments in Ohio and Miami before accepting (1981), the Chair of Pathology at the
University of Sydney and head of the AP department at Royal Prince Alfred Hospital, where he
remained for 17 years until retirement. Always busy teaching, researching, at international
conferences, presenting papers and running cytology seminars, he wrote or co-wrote over 180
articles as well as textbook chapters, and produced teaching materials still current today.
A Fellow of the College since 1981, Alan belonged to many societies and associations holding roles
as president of the American Society of Cytology, the Australian Society of Cytology and examined for
universities in Malaysia, Singapore and PNG. His many interests, pursued into retirement, included
collecting art and sculpture and enjoying good food. Alan passed away at the age of 74. Later
when the College made contact with his family, specifically his daughter Kathryn Panichi, through
discussions and a letter of agreement, an amount of $250,000 was made available to complete Alan’s
desire for something educational. The Alan BP Ng Education Centre is his legacy as an inspirational
borderless pathologist.
The Centre is located at 203-205 Albion Street in what has often been referred to as the Terraces.
Bought by the College in 1996 the property is heritage listed and has had a varied history. Originally
part of the Durham Hall land, in 1840 the first cottage was built and included a ‘good well of water’.
The other cottages were eventually built and much later turned into one single dwelling. Left
derelict, by the 1970s it was rejuvenated as a restaurant, Taylor’s and in 1984 they added the glass
atrium feature (familiar to many Fellows as the venue for lunches when attending College meetings).
It was this area that was used to create the new Alan BP Ng Education Centre. Paul Davies, a heritage
architect, cleverly integrated the old and the new in the plans and building went ahead in 2013 with
2014 completion. The result includes mid 19th century walls architecturally incorporated into a state
of the art venue; one room with many configurations with excellent audio visual facilities (includes
video conferencing) and a 103 inch plasma screen, a foyer area used as a refreshments and food
service area, modern bathrooms and caterer’s kitchen.
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Special Event - The Professor Alan BP Ng Education Centre

Taking shape

External Sign

Dr Kevin Carpenter, Mrs Enid Ng, Dr Graeme
Suthers enjoy a moment at the opening event

Entrance Foyer

Set up for a lecture session
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The work begins
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RCPA FOUNDATION
The RCPA Foundation
says thank you
In 2012 the College established the RCPA Foundation to foster a culture of excellence in training for
both pathologists and medical scientists. The objective of the Foundation is to establish a growing
repertoire of awards to support large and small research projects by trainees or recent graduates,
and to build an expectation among trainees that such experience is an integral part of becoming a
valuable professional in laboratory medicine.
The Foundation operates as a committee within the College. It is accountable to the Board of Directors
of the College via the RCPA Foundation Board, and its financial situation is reported separately, albeit
incorporated into the statuary reporting required of the College.
The Foundation Board includes Fellows of the College (both pathologists and medical scientists) and
external appointees. All members of the Board are volunteers, and the College provides administrative
support at no cost to the Foundation. A Grants Committee of expert Fellows from the College reviews
grant applications and makes recommendations for the awarding of grants.

We congratulate the 2014 Grants Winners:
• Grant in Aid: Dr Robin Gasiorowski and Dr Christian Bryant
• Post Graduate Research Fellowship: Dr Pasquale Fedele
• Mike and Carole Ralston Travelling Fellowship Award: Dr Yasmin Harvey
• Kanematsu/Novo-Nordisk Research Award: Dr David Connor
In 2015 the Foundation Grants and Awards has grown to include three new awards enabled by an
anonymous donation. These include the RCPA Foundation Post graduate Research Fellowship Award
of $25,000 and the RCPA Foundation Research Fellowship for $50,000. The Foundation received 16
Applications in 2014 and in 2015 they increased to 41.
The Foundation Board thanks you for your annual donation and encourages you to continue to do
so for the future of pathology research. The College also seeks donations, bequests, and major
contributions as opportunity arises.
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fellowships awarded
1 July 2014 - 30 June 2015

Dr Bartlomiej Getta
Dr Mahdiieh Ghoddoosi

FELLOW FRCPA
Dr Iain Abbott
Dr Anastasia Backhouse
Dr Alan Baker
Dr Russell Barker
Dr Sarah Barksdale
Dr Maria Bautista
Dr Samuel Benison
Dr Ashwini Bennett
Dr Abdulhadi Ibrahim H Bima
Dr David Bishop
Dr Yvonne Bogun
Dr Shaun Brown
Prof Alastair Burt
Dr Lisa Chang
Dr Ruchir Chavada
Dr Song Chen
Dr Kyra Chua
Dr Riton Das
Dr Paul Downe
Dr Helen Doyle
Dr Alexandra Du Guesclin
Dr Jason Dyke
Dr Georgina England
Dr Farokh Fargah
Dr Victoria Francis
Dr Laurence Galea
Dr Sarah Garner
Dr Mala Gera

Dr Tristan Gibbs
Dr Grace Gifford
Dr Mahdieh Gorji
Dr Timothy Gray
Dr Martha Guzman Barrera
Dr Amirazin Hadjiashrafy
Dr Hiba Hameed
Dr Gregory Hapgood
Dr Briony Hazelton
Dr Christopher Hewison
Dr Christopher Hills
Dr Jay Hocking
Dr Ho-Wan Ip
Dr Wojciech Janowski
Dr Harry Kasmeridis
Dr Anastazia Keegan
Dr James Knox
Dr Mary-Ann Li Jun Koh
Dr Paul Kruger
Dr Celia Kuo
Dr Denise Lee
Dr Edwin Lee
Dr Wei Leow
Dr Sueh-li Lim
Dr Michael Low
Dr Kylee Maclachlan
Dr Fiona Makowski
Dr Vanessa Manitta
Dr Jessica Matich
Dr Admire Matsika
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Fellowships Awarded

Dr Yasmin Matthews

Dr Rosemary Sutton

Dr Colleen May

Dr Tan Sze Hwa

Dr Gary McAuliffe

Dr Kenneth Tang

Dr Caroline McNamara

Dr Ian Tang

Dr Nima Mesbah Ardakani

Dr Hui Sien Tay

Dr Namita Mittal

Dr Susanna Thomas

Dr Tristan Molden-Hauer

Dr Yang Tran

Dr Azhar Munas

Dr Carrie Anne Van Der Weyden

Dr MaiAnh Nguyen

Dr Darina Vuong

Dr Samar Ojaimi

Dr Mathumathi Vythianathan

Dr Julie Paik

Prof Marjorie Walker

Dr Renuka Palanicawandar

Dr Meaghan Wall

Dr Shyam Panicker

Dr Karen Whale

Dr Gretchen Pomare

Dr Nicholas Weber

Dr Christine Qian

Dr Rachel Wooldridge

Dr Esther Quick

Dr Poh Yeo

Dr David John Rabbolini

Dr Law Chun Yiu

Dr Sumita Ratnasingam

Dr Gregory Young

Dr Patricia Rebeiro

Dr Kathleen Young

Dr Jasveen Renthawa

Dr Jian Li Zhong

Dr TeWhiti Rogers
Dr Bryony Ross
Dr Sanaz Sasani
Dr Maneesha Saxena
Dr Hemalatha Shanmugam
Dr Seyed Sharifi
Dr Archna Sharma
Dr Norelle Sherry
Dr Aaron Simpson
Dr Shobini Sivagnanam
Dr Cameron Snell
Dr Robert Stevens
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Fellowships Awarded

Founding Fellow FCFM

Dr Catherine Skellern

A/Prof Katherine Brown

Dr Luke Streitberg

Dr Donald Buchanan

Dr Elizabeth Sturgiss

Dr Nicola Cunningham

Dr Angela Sungaila

Dr Gregory Dayman

Dr Anne-Louise Swain

Dr Jennifer Delima

A/Prof David Templeton

Dr Andrew Fisher

Dr Janet Towns

A/Prof John Gall

Dr Nelle Van Buuren

Dr Dorendranath Gaya

Dr Helga Weaving

Dr Adam Griffin

A/Prof David Wells

Dr Gary Hall

Dr Angela Williams

Dr Stephen Hampton

Dr Lesley Woodward-Knight

Dr Clare Healy
Dr Thomas Hitchcock
Dr Robert Hoskins
Dr Louise Houliston
Dr Rosemary Isaacs
Dr Sally Jacobs
Dr Maire Kelly
Prof Michael Levy

Dr Ian Mahoney
Dr Geoffrey Marshall
Dr Rebecca McGowan
Dr Anthony Moynham
Dr Maria Nittis
Dr Christine Norrie
Dr Thomas O’Gorman
Dr Maureen Phillips
Dr Matthew Ryan
Dr Catherine Sansum

Dr Yuri Bobryshev
Dr Gary Koerbin
Dr Christa Nath
Dr Damien Stark
Dr Michael Walsh
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Dr Min Lo

FELLOW FSc (Research)

Dr Jason Schreiber
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AWARDS PRESENTED 2015
Honorary Fellowship

Professor Christopher Fletcher
Professor Richard Gibbs AC

Distinguished Fellow Award

Professor Stephen Cordner AM
Professor Douglas Joshua AM
Associate Professor Lynda Campbell
(to be presented 2016)

Outstanding Teaching Award

Dr John Ng
Dr Christopher Ashhurst-Smith

RCPA Foundation Research Award

Dr Pasquale Fedele

RCPA Mike and Carole Ralston Travelling
Scholarship

Dr Yasmin Harvey

RCPA Foundation Kanematsu/Novo
Nordisk Research Award

Dr David Connor

The Neil Prentice Memorial Prize

NZ candidate with highest aggregate mark,
Pathological Sciences Examination
Co-winners:
Dr Maria Grobler, Dr Annie Haejung Jo

The Eddie Hirst Memorial Prize

Australian candidate with highest aggregate
mark, Pathological Sciences Examination
Co-winners:
Dr Jordan Butler, Dr Adam Scarlett

D S Nelson Trainee Prize

Dr Siddhartha Deb

Board of Education and Assessment
Trainee Poster Prize

Dr Sarah Sasson

RCPA QAP Pty Ltd Oral Presentation Prize

Dr Kyra Chua

RCPA QAP Pty Ltd Poster Presentation Prize Dr Colleen D’Arcy
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information on directors
(in office at 30 June 2015)
A/Prof Peter Stewart
President
MBBS BSc (Med) Grad Dip Tech Management MBA FRACP FRCPA
Peter is a University of Sydney graduate. He trained in Internal Medicine and
was Research Associate in Nutrition and Pharmacology at John Hopkins for 3
years before returning to Australia as staff specialist in Clinical Biochemistry at
Royal Prince Alfred Hospital obtaining College fellowship in 1986. He is currently
Director of Pathology at Sydney South West Pathology. He has served in various
roles over the years for the College, including Honorary Treasurer and Chair
of PPAC. He has been a nominee on NPAAC, a number of other government
committees and was chair of the RCPA QAP Pty Ltd. Peter was elected as RCPA
Vice President in 2009 and President in 2013 for a two year term.
Dr Michael Harrison
Vice President
BSc (Med) MBBS (1st class honours) FRCPA
A medical graduate of the University of Queensland, Michael Harrison was
admitted to the fellowship of the College in 1984 as a general pathologist.
Since that time he has practised at Sullivan Nicolaides Pathology, principally
in the fields of chemical pathology and microbiology. He became CEO/
Managing Partner of SNP in 2002. He has been a member of the Queensland
State Council since 2003 and Queensland State Councillor 2008-2011. Other
current roles include Chairman of the Quality Use of Pathology Committee
from 1999, Chairman of the Medical Testing Accreditation Advisory Committee
from 1999, Member National Pathology Accreditation Advisory Council 2008-9,
currently a member of APC and Member, Diagnostics Expert Advisory Panel,
National Prescriber Service. Past roles include PSTC and PCC member, Statistics
Subcommittee of PCC/PSTC and Chairman of AAPP.
Dr Michael Dray
Vice President, New Zealand
MBChB (Otago), DCH, Dip Obst, FRCPA
Dr Michael Dray is a Consultant Histopathologist based at Waikato Hospital.
He gained his medical degree from the University of Otago. His initial medical
career saw him in General Practice for several years prior to training in Anatomical
Pathology in Sydney, NSW for 5 years before returning to New Zealand in 2006.
He spent 6 years working at Middlemore Hospital, South Auckland before
moving to his current position. He is also Chair of the NZ Committee of
Pathologists, a Senior Lecturer at the University of Auckland being an active
member of the Bone & Joint Research Group, Secretary of the NZ Society of
Pathologists, a Coronial Pathologist, Scientific Advisory Committee member
of the Middlemore Tissue Bank and member of the IANZ Medical Testing
Professional Advisory Committee.
23

Information on Directors

Dr Jan Kencian
Secretary/Treasurer
BMed (hons) FRCPA
Dr Jan Kencian has held the role of supervising pathologist for Sullivan
Nicolaides in Cairns, Queensland since 2004. In 2003 she worked at the Brisbane
laboratory and prior to that at laboratories in Cairns. Her resident training was
at Royal Newcastle and Gosford Hospitals and she undertook anatomical
pathology as a registrar at Royal North Shore Hospital, St Leonards NSW
achieving FRCPA in 1988. Jan has held several roles over the years with IAP and
was Treasurer of IAP Australasian Division for 3 years and a Board member for
5 years. Over the years she has represented Far North Queensland on many
groups including Queensland Breast Screen and Queensland State Cervical
Cytology Register Working Group. She was elected as RCPA Secretary/Treasurer
in November 2013, the first person to hold the new dual role.

Prof Tony Landgren
Chairman, Board of Education and Assessment

ANNUAL REPORT • 2014 - 2015

MBBS LLB FRCPA FACLM MRACMA Barrister & Solicitor Supreme Court
of Victoria.
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Tony Landgren is a graduate in Medicine and Law from the University of
Melbourne. He trained in Anatomical and Forensic Pathology in Victoria and
was admitted to Fellowship in 1990. Tony has worked as a pathologist and
administrator in private and public practice in Queensland, New South Wales
and Victoria. He is Chair of the Department of Anatomical Pathology at the
Royal Melbourne Hospital and Chief Pathologist at Healthscope Limited. His
legal practice specialises in Commercial and Biotechnology Law. He holds
academic appointments at the University of Melbourne. He is a Director of
RCPA Quality Assurance Programs Pty Ltd and Chair of the RCPA Board of
Education and Assessment.

Information on Directors

Dr Lawrence Bott
Chairman, Board of Professional Practice and Quality
MBBS (Hons), FRCPA
Lawrie graduated from the University of Sydney and trained in pathology at
Concord Hospital in Sydney. Since obtaining Fellowship (1989), he has worked
as a General Pathologist in private practice in NSW, country Victoria, and
Tasmania. He joined Barratt & Smith Pathology in 1990 and was made CEO
in 1995. In 2000 became CEO at Southern Pathology (now Southern IML)
Wollongong. In 2006 he moved to Tasmania, as CEO of Diagnostic Services
Pty Ltd comprising Hobart, Launceston and North West Pathology. Lawrie
served as RCPA Honorary Secretary (2000-2004), Chair of the Overseeing
Committee for Pathology Update 2001 to 2004, NSW State Councillor
(2005-2007), Member, Deputy Chair and Chair of PPAC from 2004 and now
Chair of BPPQ. He is also a Director of RCPA Quality Assurance Programs (QAP)
Pty Ltd (2000 to present), was Councillor for Tasmania (2011-2013) and has
served on many College committees, particularly related to Informatics and
e-Health. He has been a representative on many external organisations and
holds a RCPA Meritorious Service Award received in 2013.

Prof Roger Wilson
Representative for States and Regions
MBChB, FRCPA, FRACMA, Dip Microbiol, Grad Dip Health Law (with Distinction)
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Roger graduated from Otago University in 1977 and rotated through each
discipline of pathology at Dunedin Hospital before completing training in
microbiology at Royal North Shore Hospital Sydney and being admitted to
Fellowship (1985). He was a consultant Clinical Microbiologist at Royal Perth
Hospital from 1986 and moved to the Nepean & Blue Mountains Pathology
Service in 1996 as Director of Pathology. Appointed Executive Director of South
Eastern Area Laboratory Services (SEALS) in 2001 he remained there until
appointed as inaugural Chief Pathologist of ‘NSW Health Pathology’ in April
2013. Roger is a Fellow of RACMA, holds an appointment as Conjoint Professor
at UNSW, was President of NCOPP (2006-2010) and has represented NSW Health
on NPAAC since 2007. He was Chair of NSW Health Peak Pathology Committee
(2003-2007) and a member of the Commonwealth’s Pathology Consultative
Committee and the Quality Use of Pathology Committee. Roger was elected
Councillor for NSW/ACT in 2012 and in November 2013 appointed to the Board
of Directors by the Council Committee representing State and Regional
Councillors.
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Information on Directors

Dr Sophia Otto
General Representative
MBBS, FRCPA
Dr Sophia Otto graduated from the University of Adelaide in 1983, and after
a period of Surgical Residency, worked for many years in her own General
Practice, as well as serving as Director and Owner of the Surgical Assistants’
Service, an employer of doctors providing assistance to surgeons in all specialty
groups. She commenced Anatomical Pathology training in late 2001 and when
she graduated 5 years later was appointed as a Staff Specialist by SA Pathology
at their Royal Adelaide Hospital (RAH) site. She has an interest in renal biopsy
pathology as well as head and neck, lymphoma, neuro-oncology and soft tissue
pathology. She was appointed as Divisional Head of the Department of Surgical
Pathology (RAH site) in 2014. Sophia was elected as State Councillor for SA/NT in
2011 and appointed to the Board of Directors by the Council Committee as the
General Council Committee representative in November 2013.

A/Prof Merrole Cole-Sinclair
Representative, Advisory Committees
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BSc (Hons) MBBS RCPA RACP FFSc
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A graduate in Medicine and Science from the University of Melbourne,
Merrole trained in laboratory and clinical haematology through the Joint
Specialist Advisory Committee [JSAC, RCPA and RACP] and has been a staff
specialist in the Victorian public hospital sector since returning to Australia in
1993 after a Clinical Research Fellowship in London. She is currently Head,
Laboratory Haematology at St Vincent’s Health Melbourne and holds an
Honorary Academic Appointment with the Department of Pathology at the
University of Melbourne. Merrole has an interest in transfusion medicine and
since 2008 has Chaired the Transfusion Outcomes Research Collaborative,
an ARCBS and Monash University partnership. She served as RCPA Chief
Examiner in Haematology (2007-2012), Chair of JSAC for Haematology and
currently Chairs the RCPA Haematology Advisory Committee. Council appointed
her in November 2014 to the Board of Directors as the discipline advisory
committee representative.

VALE
From 1 July 2014 to 30 June 2015 the College learnt of the passing of the following members.

Dr Geoffrey Keith Allwood (late of Victoria, FRCPA 1973)
Dr Ian Fabian Henry Bowyer (late of WA, FRCPA 1978)
Dr Margaret Gladstone Collins (late of NSW, FRCPA 1971)
Professor Yvonne Edna Cossart, AO (late of NSW, FRCPA 1987)
Prof Richard (Dick) Cotton AM (late of Victoria, RCPA Honorary Fellow 2012)
Dr Peter Miller Dennis (late of Victoria, FRCPA 1970)
Dr Roger Watson Guard (late of Queensland, FRCPA 1977)
Dr Joana Char Ying Ho (late of Hong Kong, FRCPA 1989)
Professor Barrie Patrick Marmion (late of Sth Australia, FRCPA 1963)
Prof Donald Metcalf (late of Victoria, FRCPA 1963)
Dr Alan Edward Mills (late of Ireland, FRCPA 1988)
A/Prof Naomi Jeanette Philips (late of NSW, FRCPA 1979)
Dr Jill Anne Pollard (late of Victoria (formerly WA), FRCPA 1978)
Dr Malay Rana (late of NSW, RCPA Trainee)
Dr Robert Christopher Sutherland (late of Victoria, FRCPA 1978)
Mr Ed Wilson (late of Tasmania, RCPA Honorary Fellow 2010)

Please note that the College is often contacted by Fellows asking why particular names have been omitted
from the vale list. The College can only report if advised by colleagues or families.
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obituaries
Yvonne Cossart AO
A world leader in the field of Infectious Diseases, Yvonne was drawn to virology at university. After
postgraduate studies in London she was responsible for the enterovirus section of the Central
Public Health Laboratory where she devised methods for surveillance of the efficacy and safety
of poliomyelitis vaccination. She then worked on a panel supervising the use of specific
immunoglobulins and in 1967 Yvonne began work on hepatitis, providing a diagnostic and clinical
advisory service for England and Wales. Her group designed effective control measures to contain
hepatitis B in renal dialysis units in the UK. In 1975, her group noted a previously unknown parvovirus
in blood donations and transfusion recipients. Virus ‘B19’ is now recognised to be the cause of Fifth
Disease in children and can cause aplastic anaemia, hydrops fetalis and acute arthritis.
For over 30 years Yvonne’s initiative and enthusiasm helped shape an innovative structure for research
and teaching at the University of Sydney. As Infectious Diseases Department Head, she led work on
hepatitis and parvovirus, plus human papilloma viruses via epidemiological and experimental studies.
She demonstrated molecular detection of HPV DNA in lymph node biopsies as being more sensitive
than conventional histopathology in identifying micro-metastases. Yvonne helped develop the
Faculty’s Graduate Medical Program, and supervised post-graduate research students. She was made
an Officer of the Order of Australia for service to medicine and honoured with the RCPA Distinguished
Fellow Award in 2013. She is survived by her husband Ted Wills, a Fellow of the College, and her son
Tom.

Richard (Dick) Cotton, AM
An Honorary Fellow of the College Richard Cotton held BAgrSc 1963, PhD MedSc 1967, DSc 1982.
He developed a widely used test for PKU, a genetic disorder that causes brain damage and seizures
and paved the way for the process of producing artificial disease-fighting antibodies. He is best
remembered for tracking gene mutations that lead to defects at birth and later in life and founded a
journal, Human Mutation, focussed on human mutations, not just human genetics. In 2006, Professor
Cotton instigated a meeting with WHO that set up the Human Variome Project (HVP) an offshoot of
the Human Genome Organisation (HUGO). The HVP aims to catalogue all human genetic variation
identified by diagnostic genetics laboratories worldwide to help determine which are disease causing
mutations and which are not.
Professor Cotton headed the HVP project at the University of Melbourne’s pathology department and
he rallied clinicians, geneticists and researchers from over 30 countries to be involved. His leadership
inspired and motivated people to embrace his global vision. A brilliant scientist, scholar, mentor and
leader, Richard Cotton will be remembered for his generosity of spirit, his unrelenting good humour,
and persistent optimism in putting it all together.
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Obituaries

Roger Guard
Whilst enjoying an overseas trip, Dr Roger Guard and his wife of 42 years Jill (a GP who worked as a
Breast Physician) became victims in the ill fated Malaysia Airlines Flight MH17 shot down over the
Ukraine.
Roger Watson Guard was a country boy with a love of nature and the world, at one time managing 5
months as Expedition Medical Officer at Heard Island, Antarctica. A University of Queensland medical
degree (1969) was followed by general pathology training and admittance as FRCPA in 1976.
Working in Cairns Roger developed expertise in microbiology and helped set up the area’s
microbiology service. In 1984 he moved to Toowoomba as Senior Specialist at the Commonwealth
Laboratory and by 1986 was Director of Pathology when the laboratory came under the control of
Queensland Health. As Director he had oversight of pathology services across a very large area.
During 30 years of service in Toowoomba, Roger earned the admiration and respect of his medical c
olleagues. Dedicated to his profession, his timely and accurate reports ensured high standards for
diagnostic services at the Base Hospital. A man of great energy and activity Roger loved to run,
especially marathons, and belonged to a running club, achieving many wins. Of his three children one,
David, has followed him and is a Trainee with the College.

Dr Joanna Ho Chor Ying (何楚盈醫生)

ANNUAL REPORT • 2014 - 2015

A Hong Kong pathologist who completed studies at Beijing Medical University in China and McGill
University in Canada. In 1971, Joanna joined the Department of Pathology, University of Hong Kong,
rising to Senior Clinical Pathologist and worked at Queen Mary Hospital until her 1999 retirement.
She was admitted FRCPA and as a Fellow of the Hong Kong College of Pathologists where she was
a Founding Fellow. Her professional years epitomised and demonstrated the fine art and science of
Anatomical Pathology. She participated in all aspects of pathology service, was committed to research
and teaching and became a role model for medical students and pathology trainees. Joanna’s research,
especially in GIT pathology, resulted in papers in journals of international stature. She was one of a
trio known fondly as the ‘aunties’ that junior members could approach for solace and guidance. After
retirement Joanna coped with Parkinson’s disease and despite a lack of mobility remained positive,
and even attended annual College dinners. She was a caring woman who nurtured the professional
development of a generation of anatomical pathologists at HKU/QMH and was held in great affection
by her contemporaries and seniors.
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Obituaries
Barrie Patrick Marmion AO
A Fellow since 1963 Barrie Marmion made major contributions to the control of infectious diseases
including hepatitis B and Q fever, to diagnostic medical microbiology and the practice of pathology in
a distinguished career over 70 years in the UK and Australia. He attributed his determined self-reliance
to being largely self-taught at medical school due to regular staff being away at war duties. Post
war, he worked at the Walter and Eliza Hall Institute in Melbourne with Macfarlane Burnet on
respiratory viruses and Murray valley encephalitis. Back in the UK, he joined a Cambridge group in a
major investigation of Q fever infection in the UK. By 1955 he headed the new PHLS virus laboratory
in Leeds dealing with smallpox cases and control of paralytic poliomyelitis by Sabin vaccine. Marmion
made a discovery concurrently with USA researchers, that Eaton’s atypical pneumonia agent is a
mycoplasma, and published the first description of Q fever endocarditis.
In 1963 Barrie was Foundation Professor of Microbiology at the new Monash University Medical School
in Melbourne. From 1968-1979 he worked in Edinburgh UK gaining experience about control of blood
borne viruses and discoveries about pathogenesis of Hepatitis B and cloning of a human virus. After
retirement he continued Q fever research and a vaccine was found. His awards included an AO and the
RCPA Distinguished Fellow Award. Barrie Marmion combined a dignified, authoritative presence with
warmth and thoughtfulness, always respectful and supportive of colleagues.
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Donald Metcalf
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A biomedical expert, a pioneer in experimental haematology based mainly at the Walter and Eliza Hall
Institute and the University of Melbourne, Donald was widely recognised for his work on the growth
factors of white blood cells, the colony-stimulating factors, CSFs discovering the hormones that control
how the white blood cells of immune systems prepare to fight disease. This discovery is now a cancer
treatment which has saved millions of lives. His research has also provided valuable information for
understanding what goes wrong in leukaemias and lymphomas. For his discoveries he received most
of the prizes available for cancer research, including the General Motors Prize for Cancer Research and
the Australian Prime Minister’s Prize for Science, and was recognised by Australia Post in the Australian
Legends stamp series. In 2006 he received the RCPA Distinguished Fellow Award in recognition of his
role as one of the most successful Australian researchers of his time who inspired many to undertake
challenging medical problems, to compete with the best and win.

Jeanette Naomi Philips
A graduate of the University of Witwatersrand, South Africa, Jeanette came to Australia in 1974 and
tutored at the University of Sydney. By 1979 she had achieved Fellowship of the College and worked at
RPA until she took up a position at Royal North Shore in 1986 where she remained. Jeanette’s work in
regard to fine needle aspiration biopsy cytology in Australia was pioneering. She worked closely with
Breast Screening programs and enjoyed active involvement with the Australian Society of Cytology,
the International Academy of Cytology and the cytology community in general. She was a member of
the College Cytopathology Discipline Advisory Committee, an examiner for the College for a number
of years, an assessor for NATA and was on various University of Sydney education committees. Jeanette
was a supervisor for visiting pathologists and a familiar figure at scientific meetings being an invited
speaker on well over 40 occasions in her area of expertise. She received and managed many grants
and participated in research programs of note.

Obituaries
Jill Pollard
After completing a Pharmacy degree in Victoria in 1965, Jill Pollard went on to undertake a medical
degree at the University of Western Australia completed in 1972 and then undertook training to gain
her FRCPA in 1978. An Anatomical Pathologist with an interest in Cytopathology, she worked in Perth
until her appointment as Director of Pathology at Frankston Hospital in 2000 and remained there for
8 years, respected as a skilled pathologist, inspiring mentor and valued colleague. Sadly she fell ill in
2007 and was unable to return to work. She passed away in March 2015.

Malay Rana
Malay was a much liked, excellent trainee who contributed positively to many aspects of College life
and to his employers at Southern IML Pathology, NSW where he was employed as a general pathology
registrar. Malay had successfully finished his chemical pathology examinations and was currently
undergoing microbiology and haematology training. His commitment to pathology pre-dated his
registrar training; he completed a voluntary pathology term during his final medical student year and
was awarded the Research Scholarship in Pathology for Medical Students from the Royal College of
Pathologists Australasia. He had published numerous articles in peer reviewed journals as well as
posters. He gave presentations at local and national meetings, and participated in and presented at
Pathology Update. His research contribution to Cystic Fibrosis was exemplary.
Malay was involved with fund raising for Cystic Fibrosis research as well as living with the disease all
of his life, until he prematurely passed away at the age of 27. He did not let the disease hold him back
and found ways around it. He was a member of the “Engaging Clinicians in Research Working Party”
at The Children’s Hospital at Westmead. He was also a popular teacher of local medical students at the
University of Wollongong. Chronic illness did not diminish Malay’s enthusiasm for life, his approach
was inspirational.

A pioneer of statistical analysis of pathology data and advisor on health economics, Ed Wilson was a
major player in the advancement of the pathology profession in Australia. It was for these reasons that
he was given Honorary Fellowship of the College in 2011. Ed helped both individuals and companies
to make sensible and meaningful evidence based decisions. He had vast expertise in the area of
funding of pathology in Australia and was involved in the formation of AAPP. In the few years prior
to his sudden passing, he worked as a Management Consultant and was highly regarded both in
Australia and further afield.
Ed’s began as a cytotechnologist at the Victorian Cytology Service and served as a WHO consultant in
Indonesia and India, establishing laboratories and cytology training. His second career was based
on statistical skills and training in laboratory management, for Dorevitch Pathology and then as a
consultant. He became involved in Health Economics and for some 25 years lived at the boundary
between the profession, the industry and the Government. His valuable input, appreciation of the
issues and friendship will be missed.
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Ed Wilson
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meetings of the board of directors
During the financial year 1 July 2014 to 30 June 2015 twelve (12) meetings of the Board of Directors
took place.

Directors
Meetings

Alphabetical list
of Directors
Eligible
to attend
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Number
attended

Dr Lawrence Bott

12

11

A/Prof Merrole Cole-Sinclair

12

11

Dr Michael Dray

12

11

Dr Michael Harrison

12

9

Dr Janet Kencian

12

9

Prof Anthony Landgren

12

11

Dr Sophia Otto

12

10

A/Prof Peter Stewart

12

12

Prof Roger Wilson

12

12

Indemnifying Officers or Auditor
During or since the end of the financial year the
College has given an indemnity or entered an
agreement to indemnify, or paid or agreed to pay
insurance premiums as follows:

Options
The College is not in the practice of issuing share
options as it is a Not for Profit organisation.

The Insurer agrees to pay on behalf of each
Insured Person(s) all Loss for which each
Insured Person(s) may not be indemnified by the
College and which such Insured Person(s)
becomes legally obligated to pay on account of
any Claim first made against him/her individually
or otherwise and notified to the Insurer during
the Period of Insurance for a Wrongful Act after
the Retroactive Date. For these purposes the
Insurer will not be liable to pay where to do so
would be prohibitive by law.
Director, Councillor and Officer mean any past,
present or future Director, Secretary, Executive
Officer or employee of the College.
The company has paid premiums to insure each
of the Councillors/Directors against liabilities
for costs and expenses incurred by them in
defending any legal proceedings arising out
of their conduct while acting in the capacity of
Councillor/Director of the College, other than
conduct involving a wilful breach of duty in
relation to the College. The amount of the
premium was $7,357 covering all Councillors/
Directors and Officers within Australia and
Members of the New Zealand Committee.
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Proceedings on Behalf of College
No person has applied for leave of Court to
bring proceedings on behalf of the College
or intervened in any proceedings to which the
College is a party for the purpose of taking
responsibility on behalf of the College for all or
any part of those proceedings.
Signed in accordance with a resolution of
Directors.

P Stewart
President					
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J Kencian
Secretary/Treasurer
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Dated this 23rd day of September 2015

directors’ declaration
In the directors’ opinion:
• the attached financial statements and notes
thereto comply with the Corporations Act 2001,
the Australian Accounting Standards - Reduced
Disclosure Requirements, the Corporations
Regulations 2001 and other mandatory
professional reporting requirements;
• the attached financial statements and notes
thereto give a true and fair view of the College’s
financial position as at 30 June 2015 and of its
performance for the financial year ended on
that date; and
• there are reasonable grounds to believe that
the College will be able to pay its debts as and
when they become due and payable.
Signed in accordance with a resolution of
directors made pursuant to section 295(5)(a) of
the Corporations Act 2001.
On behalf of the directors

P Stewart
President					

J Kencian
Secretary/Treasurer
Dated this 23rd day of September 2015
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Tel: +61 2 9251 4100
Fax: +61 2 9240 9821
www.bdo.com.au

Level 11, 1 Margaret St
Sydney NSW 2000
Australia

Auditor Independence DECLARATION
DECLARATION OF INDEPENDENCE BY JOHN BRESOLIN TO THE DIRECTORS OF THE ROYAL COLLEGE
OF PATHOLOGISTS OF AUSTRALASIA

As lead auditor of The Royal College of Pathologists of Australasia for the year ended 30 June 2015, I
declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been:
1.

No contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in
relation to the audit; and

2.

No contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

John Bresolin
Partner

BDO East Coast Partnership
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Sydney, 23 September 2015
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BDO East Coast Partnership ABN 83 236 985 726 is a member of a national association of independent entities which are all members of BDO (Australia) Ltd
ABN 77 050 110 275, an Australian company limited by guarantee. BDO East Coast Partnership and BDO (Australia) Ltd are members of BDO International
Ltd, a UK company limited by guarantee, and form part of the international BDO network of independent member firms. Liability limited by a scheme
approved under Professional Standards Legislation, other than for the acts or omissions of financial services licensees.

Tel: +61 2 9251 4100
Fax: +61 2 9240 9821
www.bdo.com.au

Level 11, 1 Margaret St
Sydney NSW 2000

IndependenT Auditor’s REPORT
Australia

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the members of The Royal College of Pathologists of Australasia,

Report on the Financial Report
We have audited the accompanying financial report of The Royal College of Pathologists of Australasia,
which comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2015, the statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information, and the directors’ declaration.
Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Report
The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a
true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure
Requirements and the Corporations Act 2001 and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted our
audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we comply with
relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial report is free from material misstatement.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our audit opinion.

BDO East Coast Partnership ABN 83 236 985 726 is a member of a national association of independent entities which are all members of BDO Australia Ltd
ABN 77 050 110 275, an Australian company limited by guarantee. BDO East Coast Partnership and BDO Australia Ltd are members of BDO International Ltd,
a UK company limited by guarantee, and form part of the international BDO network of independent member firms. Liability limited by a scheme approved
under Professional Standards Legislation, other than for the acts or omissions of financial services licensees.
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error.
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the company’s
preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the company’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
Independence
In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations
Act 2001. We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, which
has been given to the directors of The Royal College of Pathologists of Australasia, would be in the
same terms if given to the directors as at the time of this auditor’s report.
Opinion
In our opinion the financial report of The Royal College of Pathologists of Australasia is in accordance
with the Corporations Act 2001, including:
(a) giving a true and fair view of the company’s financial position as at 30 June 2015 and of its
performance for the year ended on that date; and
(b) complying with Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements and the
Corporations Regulations 2001.

BDO East Coast Partnership

John Bresolin
Partner
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Sydney, 23 September 2015
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Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income
THE ROYAL COLLEGE OF PATHOLOGISTS OF AUSTRALASIA
ABN 52 000 173 231

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE FINANCIALYEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015
Note

Subscription and training revenue

3

Grant revenue

5(b)

Other revenue

4

2015
$

2014
$
5,996,166

12,517,006

12,205,620

916,993

875,272

(30,294)

188,067

(3,397,521)

(3,006,750)

(161,504)

(123,722)

(1,016,341)

(1,075,383)

(148,185)

-

Professional fee expense

(449,449)

(383,605)

Premises expense

(141,719)

(139,889)

Travel and accommodation expense

(684,513)

(753,896)

(12,517,006)

(12,205,620)

(629,195)

(628,240)

(147,480)

(133,905)

413,865

814,115

-

-

413,865

814,115

(Loss)/Gain on financial assets held at fair value through
profit or loss
Employee benefits expense
Depreciation expense

5(a)

Conferencing/education expense
Impairment of assets

10

Grant expense

5(b)

Other expenses
Finance and investment costs

5(a)

Profit before income tax
Income tax expense

1(a)

Profit after income tax
Other comprehensive income:
Other comprehensive income for the year net of income tax
Total comprehensive income for the year

413,865

814,115
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6,303,073

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Statement
of Financial Position
THE ROYAL COLLEGE OF PATHOLOGISTS OF AUSTRALASIA
ABN 52 000 173 231

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 30 JUNE 2015

Statement OF Cash FlowS
Note

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Other current assets
Financial assets

6
7
8
9

6,572,896
2,821,615
380,319
7,401,181

17,332,798

17,176,011

7,107
4,292,430

7,107
3,582,049

4,299,537

3,589,156

21,632,335

20,765,167

710,231
24,836
557,454
9,833,951

1,757,561
22,598
542,783
8,378,961

11,126,472

10,701,903

149,396

24,836
95,826

149,396

120,662

TOTAL LIABILITIES

11,275,868

10,822,565

NET ASSETS

10,356,467

9,942,602

EQUITY
Retained earnings

10,356,467

9,942,602

TOTAL EQUITY

10,356,467

9,942,602

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Financial assets
Property, plant and equipment

9
10

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS
TOTAL ASSETS
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables
Short term borrowings
Short term provisions
Other current liabilities

11
12
13
11

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Long term borrowings
Long term provisions

12
13

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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2014
$

7,452,365
2,553,774
261,794
7,064,865

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS
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2015
$

2

Statement
OF CASH FLOWS
THE ROYAL COLLEGE OF PATHOLOGISTS OF AUSTRALASIA
ABN 52 000 173 231

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015
Note

2015
$

2014
$

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Receipts from subscriptions, training and events (inclusive of
GST)
Interest and dividends received
Donations received
Grant income received (inclusive of GST)
Finance costs paid
Payments to suppliers and employees (inclusive of GST)

8,426,626

6,811,331

277,824
346,752
14,423,484
(4,015)
(21,853,432)

324,489
163,829
13,277,437
(5,899)
(19,223,865)

1,617,239

1,347,322

(1,021,194)
530,000
(223,978)

(1,127,540)
490,000
(280,636)

(715,172)

(918,176)

Repayment of finance lease commitments

(22,598)

(20,562)

Net cash used in financing activities

(22,598)

(20,562)

879,469
6,572,896

408,584
6,164,312

7,452,365

6,572,896

Net cash provided by operating activities

21(b)

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Payments for plant and equipment
Proceeds from sale of investments
Payments for investments
Net cash used in investing activities
CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Net increase in cash held
Cash at beginning of year
Cash at end of year

21(a)
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The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Statement
OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
THE ROYAL COLLEGE OF PATHOLOGISTS OF AUSTRALASIA
ABN 52 000 173 231

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015

Retained Earnings
General Fund
$
Balance at 1 July 2013
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income for the year
Total comprehensive income for the year

6,032,604

1,927,985

1,167,898

9,128,487

460,732

187,302

166,081

814,115

-

-

-

-

460,732

187,302

166,081

814,115

6,493,336

2,115,287

1,333,979

9,942,602

Balance at 1 July 2014

6,493,336

2,115,287

1,333,979

9,942,602

71,896

293,765

48,204

413,865

-

-

-

-

Other comprehensive income for the year
Total comprehensive income for the year
Balance at 30 June 2015
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Total
$

Balance at 30 June 2014

Profit for the year

71,896

293,765

48,204

413,865

6,565,232

2,409,052

1,382,183

10,356,467

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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RCPA
Foundation
$
(Note 15)

ER Fund
$

Notes
to the Financial Statements
THE ROYAL COLLEGE OF PATHOLOGISTS OF AUSTRALASIA
ABN 52 000 173 231

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015
1. Significant Accounting Policies
The financial report of The Royal College of Pathologists of Australasia for the financial year
ended 30 June 2015 was authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of Directors,
dated 23 September 2015.
.
The financial report is a general purpose financial report that has been prepared in
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards - Reduced Disclosure Requirements and
Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board ('AASB'), and the
Corporations Act 2001, as appropriate for not-for-profit oriented entities.
The financial report is for The Royal College of Pathologists of Australasia, (“the College”),
as an individual entity. The College is a not for profit entity limited by guarantee, and is
incorporated and domiciled in Australia.
The financial report is presented in Australian Dollars which is the College’s functional and
presentational currency.
The financial report has been prepared on an accruals basis and is based on historical costs
and does not take into account changing money values or, except where stated, current
valuations of non-current assets. Cost is based on the fair values of the consideration given in
exchange for assets. The financial report has been prepared on a going concern basis.
The following is a summary of the material accounting policies adopted by the College in the
preparation of the financial report. The accounting policies have been consistently applied,
unless otherwise stated.
(a) Income Tax
The College is classified as a scientific and educational institution by the Australian Taxation
Office and therefore, in accordance with section 50-5 of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997,
is exempt from paying income tax.

Items of property plant and equipment, other than those items noted below, are measured on a
cost basis and are depreciated over their estimated useful lives using the straight-line method.
Buildings
The College’s buildings are heritage listed and are being fully maintained. Accordingly, no loss
of service potential has occurred during the financial year. Heritage listed buildings have an
indefinite life and accordingly, no depreciation has been charged. In addition, as indicated in
Note 10 to the financial statements, the carrying value of the land and buildings is at cost and
does not exceed their recoverable amount. Independent building valuations are completed
every three years.
In 2013 an exception was made to this policy for the cost of renovations to the kitchen in
Durham Hall. The renovations are estimated to have a useful life of 10 years and are being
depreciated on a straight line basis.
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(b) Property Plant and Equipment
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Notes to the Financial Statements

THE ROYAL COLLEGE OF PATHOLOGISTS OF AUSTRALASIA
ABN 52 000 173 231

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015
1.
(b)

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Property Plant and Equipment (continued)
Plant and Equipment
Plant and equipment is measured on a cost basis less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses. The carrying amount of plant and equipment is reviewed annually by
Directors to ensure that it is not in excess of the recoverable amount from those assets. The
recoverable amount is assessed on the basis of the expected net cash flows, which will be
received from the asset’s employment and subsequent disposal. The expected net cash
flows have not been discounted to present values in determining the recoverable amount.
The Directors of the College do not consider the wall hangings, portraits, presidential
medallion and chain, historical books, Maori carved panel and the cedar table to be
depreciating assets (that is they are capital appreciating assets) and as such no depreciation
has been charged to them. The carrying value of these items is at cost.
Depreciation is charged on straight line basis and the rates used for each class of assets are as
follows:
Class of fixed asset

Depreciation rate

Owned plant and equipment
Leased plant and equipment

5 – 40%
20%

Web Site Development
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The costs of developing the College’s web site are recognised as asset and are depreciated
over the useful life of the asset. The useful life of the web site is limited due to rapid
technological changes and generally would be expected to have a short useful life. Accordingly,
a useful life of two and half years has been adopted for this asset.
(c)

Leases
Leases of fixed assets, where substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to the ownership
of the asset, but not legal ownership, are transferred to the College and classified as finance
leases. Finance leases are capitalised in recording an asset and a liability equal to the
present value of the minimum lease payments, including any guaranteed residual values.
Leased assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives
where it is likely that the College will obtain ownership of the asset or over the term of the
lease. Lease payments are allocated between the reduction of the lease liability and the
lease interest expense for the period.
Lease payments under operating leases, where substantially all the risks and benefits remain
with the lessor, are charged as an expense through the Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income on a straight line basis.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015
1.

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(d)

Financial Instruments
Financial instruments are initially measured at fair value on trade date which includes
transaction costs when the related contractual rights or obligations exist. Subsequent to initial
recognition, these instruments are measured as set out below.
Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss
A financial asset is classified in this category if acquired principally for the purposes of selling in
the short-term or it so designated by management and within the requirement of AASB 139:
Financial Instruments: Recognition & Measurement. Realised and unrealised gains and losses
arising from changes in fair value of these assets are included in the Statement of Profit or Loss
and Other Comprehensive Income in the period in which they arise.
Loans and Receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments
that are not quoted in an active market and are stated at amortised cost using the effective rate
of interest method.
Financial Liabilities
Non-derivative financial liabilities are recognised at amortised cost using the effective rate of
interest method, comprising original debt less principal payments and amortisation.
Investments

(e) Foreign Currency Transactions and Balances
Foreign currency transactions during the period are converted to Australian dollars at the
rates of exchange applicable at the date of the transaction. Amounts receivable and payable
in foreign currencies at the reporting date are converted at the rates of exchange ruling at
that date. It is the policy of the College not to hedge their foreign currency transactions.
The gains and losses from conversion of assets and liabilities, whether realised or
unrealised, are included in the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
as they arise.
(f) Employee Benefits
Short-term employee benefits
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits expected to be settled wholly
within 12 months after the end of the reporting period are recognised in other liabilities in respect
of employees' services rendered up to the end of the reporting period and are measured at
amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. Liabilities for non-accumulating sick
leave are recognised when leave is taken and measured at the actual rates paid or payable.

7

ANNUAL REPORT • 2014 - 2015

Shares in listed companies are measured on the cost basis. The carrying amount of
investments is reviewed annually by Directors to ensure it is not in excess of the recoverable
amount of these investments. The recoverable amount is assessed from the quoted market
value for shares in listed companies or the underlying net assets for other non-listed
corporations. The expected net cash flows from investments have not been discounted to their
present value in determining the recoverable amounts.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015
1.

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
(g) Employee Benefits (continued)
Other long-term employee benefits
Liabilities for long service leave and annual leave are not expected to be settled wholly within 12
months after the end of the reporting period. They are recognised as part of the provision for
employee benefits and measured as the present value of expected future payments to be made
in respect of services provided by employees to the end of the reporting period using the
projected unit credit method. Consideration is given to expected future salaries and wages
levels, experience of employee departures and periods of service. Expected future payments
are discounted using national government bond rates at the end of the reporting period with
terms to maturity and currency that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash
outflows.
Regardless of when settlement is expected to occur, liabilities for long service leave and annual
leave are presented as current liabilities in the statement of financial position if the entity does
not have an unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the
reporting period.

(g) Cash and Cash Equivalents
For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash includes cash on hand and in call
deposits with banks or financial institutions, investments in money market instruments maturing
within less than three months, net of bank overdrafts.
(h) Comparative Figures
When required by Accounting Standards, comparative figures have been adjusted to
conform to changes in presentation for the current financial year.
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(i)
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Borrowing Costs
Borrowing costs are recognised in the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive
Income in the period in which they are incurred, unless they are attributable to a qualifying asset
when they are capitalised as part of the asset.

(j) Goods and Services Tax (GST)
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of Goods and Services Tax
(GST), except where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian
Taxation Office (ATO). In these circumstances, the GST is recognised as part of the cost of
acquisition of an asset or as part of the expense.
Receivables and payables in the Statement of Financial Position are shown inclusive of GST.
The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is included as a current asset
or liability in the Statement of Financial Position.
Cash flows are included in Statement of Cash Flows on a gross basis. The GST component of
cash flow arising from investing and financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable
to, the ATO are classified as operating cash flows. The prior year comparatives on the
Statement of Cash Flows have been restated to incorporate GST.

Notes to the Financial Statements
THE ROYAL COLLEGE OF PATHOLOGISTS OF AUSTRALASIA
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015
Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

1.
(k)

Impairment of Assets
At each reporting date, the College reviews the carrying value of its tangible assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have been impaired. If such an indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the assets, being the higher of the assets fair value less costs
to sell and value in use, is compared to the assets carrying value. Any excess of the assets
carrying value over its recoverable amount is expensed to the Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income.
Where the future economic benefits of the asset are not primarily dependent upon the asset’s
ability to generate net cash inflows and when the College would, if deprived of the asset, replace
its future economic benefits. Value in use is the depreciated replacement cost of an asset.

(l)

Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements
The Directors evaluate estimates and judgments incorporated into the financial report based on
historical knowledge and best available current information. Estimates assume a reasonable
expectation of future events and are based on current trends and economic data obtained
externally. The key areas where the directors have exercised judgements are: recoverability of
trade debtors and the estimated useful life of property, plant and equipment.

(m)

Grants
The College receives grant monies to fund projects either for contracted periods of time or for
specific projects irrespective of the period of time required to complete those projects. It is the
policy of the College to treat grant monies as deferred grant income in the Statement of
Financial Position where the entity is contractually obliged to provide the services in a
subsequent financial period to when the grant is received or in the case of specific project grants
where the project has not been completed.

(n)

Revenue Recognition Policy

(o)

New, Revised and Amended Standards and Interpretations
The college has adopted all of the new, revised or amending Accounting Standards and
Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board ('AASB') that are
mandatory for the current reporting period.
Any new, revised or amending Accounting Standards or Interpretations that are not yet
mandatory have not been early adopted.
The adoption of these Accounting Standards and Interpretations did not have any significant
impact on the financial performance or position of the college.
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Significant revenue streams:
-‐-‐Subscriptions and examination fees are recognised in the period to which they relate.
--Donations and registration fees are recognised in the period in which they are received.
--Grant revenue is recognised as and when the related costs to which they are intended to
compensate are incurred.
--Interest income is recognised as it accrues, using the effective interest rate.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015
1.

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(o)

New, Revised and Amended Standards and Interpretations (continued)
The following Accounting Standards and Interpretations are most relevant to the College:
AASB 2012-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Offsetting Financial Assets
and Financial Liabilities
The company has applied AASB 2012-3 from 1 July 2014. The amendments add application
guidance to address inconsistencies in the application of the offsetting criteria in AASB 132
'Financial Instruments: Presentation', by clarifying the meaning of 'currently has a legally
enforceable right of set-off'; and clarifies that some gross settlement systems may be considered
to be equivalent to net settlement.
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AASB 2013-3 Amendments to AASB 136 - Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial
Assets
The company has applied AASB 2013-3 from 1 July 2014. The disclosure requirements of
AASB 136 'Impairment of Assets' have been enhanced to require additional information about
the fair value measurement when the recoverable amount of impaired assets is based on fair
value less costs of disposals. Additionally, if measured using a present value technique, the
discount rate is required to be disclosed.
AASB 2014-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards (Parts A to C)
The company has applied Parts A to C of AASB 2014-1 from 1 July 2014. These amendments
affect the following standards: AASB 2 'Share-based Payment': clarifies the definition of 'vesting
condition' by separately defining a 'performance condition' and a 'service condition' and amends
the definition of 'market condition'; AASB 3 'Business Combinations': clarifies that contingent
consideration in a business combination is subsequently measured at fair value with changes in
fair value recognised in profit or loss irrespective of whether the contingent consideration is
within the scope of AASB 9; AASB 8 'Operating Segments': amended to require disclosures of
judgements made in applying the aggregation criteria and clarifies that a reconciliation of the
total reportable segment assets to the entity's assets is required only if segment assets are
reported regularly to the chief operating decision maker; AASB 13 'Fair Value Measurement':
clarifies that the portfolio exemption applies to the valuation of contracts within the scope of
AASB 9 and AASB 139; AASB 116 'Property, Plant and Equipment' and AASB 138 'Intangible
Assets': clarifies that on revaluation, restatement of accumulated depreciation will not
necessarily be in the same proportion to the change in the gross carrying value of the asset;
AASB 124 'Related Party Disclosures': extends the definition of 'related party' to include a
management entity that provides KMP services to the entity or its parent and requires disclosure
of the fees paid to the management entity; AASB 140 'Investment Property': clarifies that the
acquisition of an investment property may constitute a business combination.
(p)

New accounting standards and interpretations not yet mandatory or early adopted.
Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have recently been issued or amended
but are not yet mandatory, have not been early adopted by the company for the annual reporting
period ended 30 June 2015. The company's assessment of the impact of these new or
amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations, most relevant to the company, are set out
below.
AASB 9 Financial Instruments
This standard is applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018.
The standard replaces all previous versions of AASB 9 and completes the project to replace IAS
39 'Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement'. AASB 9 introduces new classification
and measurement models for financial assets. A financial asset shall be measured at amortised
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NOTES TO ABN
THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015

2.

Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have recently been issued or amended
Entity
Limited
by Guarantee
but
are not
yet mandatory,
have not been early adopted by the company for the annual reporting
period ended 30 June 2015. The company's assessment of the impact of these new or
The College
is limited
by guarantee
under the Corporations
Act to
2001.
The amount
amended
Accounting
Standards
and Interpretations,
most relevant
the company,
are of
setcapital,
out
which is capable of being called up, in the event of, and only for the purpose of a winding up of
below.
the College, is not to exceed $20 per member by virtue of the College’s Constitution.
AASB 9 Financial Instruments
This standard is applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018.
The standard replaces all previous versions of AASB 9 and completes the project to replace IAS
39 'Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement'. AASB 9 introduces new classification
and measurement models for financial assets. A financial asset shall be measured at amortised
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FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015
Note
3.

Subscription and training revenue
Subscriptions
Registration fees
Examination fees
Pathology update conference

4.

2014
$

3,606,358
668,769
972,886
1,055,060
6,303,073

3,420,952
670,631
921,244
983,339
5,996,166

110,882
166,942
100,000
246,752
155,125
42,466
94,826
916,993

80,209
244,280
163,829
285,322
40,832
60,800
875,272

140,650
20,854
161,504

102,868
20,854
123,722

Impairment of trade receivables

33,501

113,866

Bad debts written off

28,999

20,200

85,659
49,339
8,467
4,015
147,480

74,514
39,556
13,936
5,899
133,905

Other revenue
Earnings from cash holdings and managed funds
- Dividends received
- Interest received
Donations received – Education & Research Fund
Donations received – RCPA Foundation
Royalties from pathology journal
Editorial support for pathology journal
Revenue from other activities

5.

2015
$

15

Profit
(a) Expenses
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Depreciation of non-current owned assets
Depreciation of non-current leased assets
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Finance and investment costs:
Merchant charges for credit card facility
Investment charges
Bank fees and charges
Lease finance charges
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015

5.

2015
$

Profit (continued)

2014
$

(b) Significant Revenues and Expenses
The following revenue and expenses are relevant in
explaining the financial performance of the College:
Included in revenue and other expenses per the
Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive
Income are the following revenues and expenses
resulting from specific grants received by the College.
Grant revenue is recognised as expenses are incurred,
any excess of Grant receipts over Grant expenses is
recognised in the Statement of Financial Position as
Deferred Grant Income. Unexpended Grant income is
returned to the Grant provider.
Grant - Standardisation of Pathology Information
Terminology and Units Part 1 and 2
Revenues
Expenses
Deferred Grant Income
Grant - Virtual Microscope System:
Revenues
Expenses
Deferred Grant Income

Grant - Electronic Decision Support for Pathology
Requesting
Revenues
Expenses
Deferred Grant Income
Grant - Common Sense Pathology
Revenues
Expenses
Deferred Grant Income
Other Grants
Revenues
Expenses
Deferred Grant Income

279,384
279,384
256,114

11,396

11,396

9,604
9,604
-

9,604

256,802
256,802
51,878

138,851
138,851
308,679

18,182
18,182
74,691

72,727
72,727
31,073

8,346

8,182
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Grant - Genetic Testing Survey
Revenues
Expenses
Deferred Grant income

255,960
255,960
500,000

51
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5.

2015
$

2014
$

158,205
158,205
-

130,655
130,655
130,205

Grant - CPMC Update in Paediatric Aspects of Pathology
Revenue
Expenses
Deferred Grant Revenue

51,149
51,149
-

27,288
27,288
43,244

Grant - Transformation of RCPA Manual
Revenue
Expenses
Deferred Grant Income

42,535
42,535
23,329

22,635
22,635
44,415

Grant - QA in Morphological & Interpretative Pathology
Disciplines Part 1 and 2
Revenue
Expenses
Deferred Grant Income

99,912
99,912
80,202

112,350
112,350
147,650

Grant - Structural Pathology Reporting of Cancer
Revenues
Expenses
Deferred Grant Income

173,106
173,106
150,156

180,032
180,032
102,213

Grant – Specialist Training Program - Tasmania
Revenue
Expenses
Deferred Grant Income

287,302
287,302
953,598

-

Grant - Specialist Training Program
Revenues
Expenses
Deferred Grant Income

11,164,249
11,164,249
2,638,662

11,241,698
11,241,698
2,804,067

Total Grant Revenues
Total Grant Expenses
Total Deferred Grant Income

12,517,006
12,517,006
4,492,258

12,205,620
12,205,620
3,896,842

Profit (continued)
(b) Significant Revenues and Expenses (continued)
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Grant - Standards for Accreditation of DNA Sequence
Variation Data Bases
Revenues
Expenses
Deferred Grant Income
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6.

2015
$

2014
$

7,451,865
500

6,572,396
500

7,452,365

6,572,896

Current
Trade receivables
Less: provision for impairment

2,830,122
(277,909)

3,091,028
(311,410)

-Amounts receivable from related parties (Note 20)
-Amounts receivable from Department of Health

2,552,213
1,561
-

2,779,618
19,997
22,000

2,553,774

2,821,615

124,108
137,686
261,794

246,864
133,455
380,319

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash at bank
Cash on hand

7.

8.

Trade and Other Receivables

Other Current Assets
Prepayments
Cash held on behalf of State Committees

The Cash held on behalf of State Committees, its ultimate ownership rests with the College. State
Committees have discretion over the use of this cash.

9.

Financial Assets

Non-Current
Shares in listed corporations
- At cost

3,048,466
2,552,584
1,463,815
-

3,492,595
2,408,176
1,484,908
15,502

7,064,865

7,401,181

7,107

7,107

7,107

7,107
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Current
Managed Investments at fair value through profit or loss
- Cash Management
- Fixed Interest – securities
- Equities (shares and similar investments)
- Property (securities)
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10.

2015
$

Property, Plant and Equipment
Property
Land and building improvements
Less: accumulated depreciation
Land and buildings – at cost [refer note 1 (b)]
Less: impairment

178,898
(27,731)
3,814,492
(148,185)

80,091
(13,180)
1,968,964
-

Total property

3,817,474

2,035,875

Plant and Equipment – General Fund
Office furniture – at cost
Less: accumulated depreciation

195,601
(116,900)

113,347
(103,444)

78,701

9,903

384,434
(343,240)

347,397
(334,889)

41,194

12,508

4,135
4,750

4,135
4,750

8,885

8,885

1,824,835
(1,521,058)

1,700,898
(1,415,600)

303,777

285,298

104,382
(82,100)

104,382
(61,247)

22,282

43,135

6,682

6,682

2,565
4,595
4,700
1,575

2,565
4,595
4,700
1,575

13,435

13,435

474,956

379,846

-

1,166,328

4,292,430

3,582,049

Office equipment and machines – at cost
Less: accumulated depreciation

Wall hangings – at cost
Maori carved panel – at cost

Computer equipment – at cost
Less: accumulated depreciation
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Leased assets – at cost
Less accumulated amortisation

Honour boards – at cost
Plant and Equipment – Education and research Fund
Portraits – at cost
Historical books – at cost
Cedar table – at cost
Medals – at cost
Total Plant and Equipment
Work in progress
Total Property, Plant and Equipment
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2014
$
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10.

Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)

(a) Movement in carrying amounts
Movement in the carrying amounts for each class of property, plant and equipment between the beginning
and end of the current year are as follows:

Land and
Buildings

$

Computer
Equipment &
Software

Plant,
Equipment &
Furniture

$

$

Work in
progress
Building
$

Work in
progress
Computer
Equipment &
Software
$

Leased
Assets

Total

$

$

Balance at beginning of year
Additions
Impairment of assets
Disposals
Transfers
Depreciation expense

2,035,875
787,357
(148,185)
1,156,978
(14,550)

285,298
114,587

51,413
119,291

1,156,978
-

9,350
-

43,135
-

9,350
(105,458)

(21,807)

(1,156,978)
-

(9,350)
-

(20,854)

3,582,049
1,021,235
(148,185)
(162,669)

Carrying amount at the
end of year

3,817,475

303,777

148,897

-

-

22,281

4,292,430

The Directors considered the valuation of the property owned by the College at 207 Albion Street, Surry Hills
and obtained professional advice from an insurance valuer to ascertain the insurance replacement value. The
advice received was a formal valuation and was dated May 2013. Based on the valuation provided, the
property has a current replacement value of $2.78 million. This valuation takes into account the age and
condition of the property, recent comparable sales and the fact that it is heritage listed. The above value does
not include costs of realisation, estimated to be in the range of 3% to 4%. In the Directors opinion, this
valuation and current market conditions continue to support that the cost of the property is not in excess of its
recoverable amount.
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(b) Fair value of land and buildings
The Directors obtained professional advice from an insurance valuer to ascertain the insurance replacement
value of the freehold property owned by the College at 203-205 Albion Street, Surry Hills. The advice received
was dated May 2015. Based on the valuation provided, the property has a current replacement value of
$2.918 million. This valuation takes into account the age and condition of the property, recent comparable
sales and the fact that the property is heritage listed. In addition, the Directors obtained a market valuation for
the property from a licensed independent valuer. Their report is dated 20 April 2015 and the market value of
the property was found to be $2.8 million. In the Directors opinion, the independent valuation best reflects
current market conditions and the recoverable amount of the property leading to an impairment charge of
$148,185 being recorded during the year.
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11.

2015
$

2014
$

88,512
350,087
271,632
710,231

1,066,050
516,536
174,975
1,757,561

4,492,258
5,341,693
9,833,951

3,897,006
4,481,955
8,378,961

Current (secured)
Lease liability (Note 14)

24,836

22,598

Non Current (secured)
Lease liability (Note 14)

-

24,836

24,836

47,434

Current
Employee benefits:
Opening balance
Movements during the year
Closing balance

453,874
103,580
557,454

453,874
88,909
542,783

Non Current
Employee benefits:
Opening balance
Movements during the year
Closing balance

67,126
82,270
149,396

67,126
28,700
95,826

Aggregate employee benefit liability

706,850

638,609

Trade and Other Payables
Current (unsecured)
Trade creditors
Accruals
Other current payables
Total trade and other payables
Other Current Liabilities (unsecured)
Grant income deferred
Revenue received in advance
Total other liabilities

12.

Borrowings

Total current and non current secured liabilities
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13.

Provisions

Provision for Non Current Employee Benefits
A provision has been recognised for employee entitlements relating to long service leave. In calculating
the present value of future cash flows in respect of long service leave, the probability of long service leave
taken is based on historical data. The measurement and recognition criteria relating to employee benefits
have been included in Note 1 of this financial report.

18

56

Notes to the Financial Statements

THE ROYAL COLLEGE OF PATHOLOGISTS OF AUSTRALASIA
ABN 52 000 173 231

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015
2015
$
14.

2014
$

Capital and Lease Commitments
(a) Finance Lease Commitments Payable:
- Not later than one year
- Later than one year but not later than five years
Minimum lease payments
Less future finance charges

25,885
25,885
(1,049)

25,884
25,885
51,769
(4,335)

Total lease liability

24,836

47,434

The finance lease on office plant and equipment, which commenced in July 2011, is a 5-year
lease. The lease payments are paid quarterly in advance. The security for this lease is the
asset being leased under this arrangement.
(b) Operating Lease Commitments Payable:
The College has operating lease commitments payable as at
30 June 2015 of $3,456 (2014: $8,016).
- No later than one year
- Later than two years but no later than five years

3,456
-

4,580
3,436

Total operating lease commitments

3,456

8,016

(c) Capital Expenditure
The College has capital expenditure commitments of $68,541 payable as at 30 June 2015 to
Beach Construction (NSW) Pty Ltd in relation to the renovation of 203-205 Albion Street. (2014:
$648,965).

RCPA Foundation for Education and Research
Opening balance

1,333,979

1,167,898

Donations received
Investment income
Grants awarded
Contribution to the Alan Ng Education Centre
Expenses
Total income for the year

246,752
43,780
(79,970)
(148,185)
(14,173)

163,829
95,057
(80,000)
(12,805)

48,204

166,080

Closing balance

1,382,183

1,333,979

Represented by;
Cash at bank
Managed investments – Cash management
Total fund

160,077
1,222,106
1,382,183

143,396
1,190,583
1,333,979
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15.
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15. RCPA Foundation for Education and Research (continued)
The RCPA Foundation for Education and Research was established as a College fund in 2012.
The fund was created from donations received specifically to support grants and other forms of
assistance for Pathologists and Scientists undertaking further education and relevant research.
The College Board of Directors has formed an independent committee to administer the RCPA
Foundation for Education and Research.

16. Remuneration of Directors
The Directors of the College received no remuneration or benefits during the financial year
(2014: nil).
Directors have been in office since the start of the financial year to the date of this report unless
otherwise stated.
Prof Anthony Landgren
Dr Michael Harrison
A/Prof Merrole Cole-Sinclair
Dr Janet Kencian

A/Prof Peter Stewart
Prof Roger Wilson
Dr Michael Dray
Dr Sophia Otto
Dr Lawrence Bott

17.

Key Management Personnel Remuneration
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The total compensation of key management personnel is as follows:
2015
$
664,702

Aggregate compensation

58
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2014
$
646,904
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18.

Contingent Liabilities
The Directors of the College are not aware of any contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2015.

19.

Events Subsequent to Reporting Date
On 1 July 2015 the College acquired the issued shares in RCPA Quality Assurance Programs Pty Ltd
(RCPA QAP) from the RCPA Quality Assurance Fund. RCPA QAP will be a fully owned subsidiary
company from that date. The shares were transferred to the College at no cost.
No other matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2015 that has significantly affected, or may
significantly affect the College's operations, the results of those operations, or the College's state of
affairs in future financial years.

20.

Related Party Transactions
During the year the College entered into the following transactions
with the following entities.
Administration charge contribution from QAP

2015
$

2014
$

106,783

51,584

-

10,000

324

50,929

100,000

-

Amount owed by QAP at balance date

1,561

6,938

Amount owed by IAP at balance date

-

13,059

Rent received for office space used by IAP
Administration charge contribution from IAP
Other transactions not on normal commercial terms:
Discretionary donations received from QAP

QAP, full name RCPA Quality Assurance Programs Pty Limited, was established under a Trust
Deed set up by the Council of the College. The members of the QAP Board of Directors are
Fellows of the College. From 1 July 2015 QAP became a subsidiary company wholly owned by
the College.
IAP, full name International Academy of Pathology, previously leased office space from the
College and shared other office facilities with the College. IAP now operates independently.

21
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Term of payment for QAP and IAP is 30 days from the date of invoice.
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2015
$
21.

2014
$

Cash Flow Information
(a) Reconciliations of Cash
Cash at bank
Cash on hand

7,451,865
500
7,452,365

6,572,396
500
6,572,896

Profit after income tax

413,865

814,115

Non-cash flows in profit
Depreciation
Bad debts
Provision for doubtful debts
Impairment of assets
Fair value loss (gain) on financial assets through to profit or
loss

161,504
48,056
33,501
148,185
30,294

123,722
113,866
(188,067)

187,409
122,756
(4,231)
(1,047,331)
68,241
1,454,990

(425,988)
(83,386)
(6,410)
784,313
117,609
97,548

1,617,239

1,347,322

(b) Reconciliation of Profit after Income Tax to Net Cash
from Operating Activities

Changes in assets and liabilities
Decrease/(increase) in receivables
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments
Increase in other assets
(Decrease)/increase in creditors and accruals
Increase in provisions
Increase in other liabilities
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Cash flows from operating activities

22.

Employees
Number of employees at the reporting date
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2015

2014

38

40
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